

Efforts to Delay the Gradual Elimination of Flood Insurance Premium Subsidies

(name redacted)

Specialist in Financial Economics and Risk Assessment

March 3, 2014

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov

R43395

Summary

On July 6, 2012, President Barack Obama signed into law the Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2012 (Division F, Title II, P.L. 112-141; 126 Stat. 918) to reauthorize the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) through September 30, 2017, and make significant program changes designed to make the program more financially stable. To achieve long-term financial sustainability and ensure that flood insurance rates more accurately reflect the actuarial risk of flooding, the new law gradually phases out subsidized premiums and grandfathered policies for approximately 19% (or about 1.1 million policyholders) of the program's total number of policyholders.

Under the Biggert-Waters Act, the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) began imposing premium rates based on the property's "elevation rate," which, in turn, is based on the property's lowest floor elevation relative to the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) for existing homes and businesses built prior to the community's initial Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM). Since 1973, these so-called pre-FIRM structures had been shielded from higher premium rates. The National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 (P.L. 90-448; 82 Stat. 572) included a provision for subsidizing pre-FIRM structures by charging less than full risk-based premiums for flood insurance because their construction took place before the application of the NFIP construction standards. These structures are also exempt from the NFIP's mitigation requirements unless they become substantially damaged or substantially improved.

Thus, with the elevation of the property now being a factor in the rating process, owners of certain properties—that is, those property owners with federally insured mortgages residing in government-designated, flood-prone areas—now face relatively larger flood insurance premium rate increases. Importantly, this transition toward full-risk premium rates for generally older and more risky properties has occurred before FEMA's completion of a congressionally mandated affordability study

The impact of moving to full-risk premiums by eliminating the pre-FIRM premium subsidies, as required by the Biggert-Waters Act, is being felt in virtually all 21,000 NFIP communities across the nation. The impact of elimination of the subsidies on non-principle residential properties (i.e., second homes), business properties, and new or lapsed policies has been particularly felt in communities with a relatively high proportion of high-risk flood-prone pre-FIRM properties. In addition to its impact on property owners, the elimination of the subsidy affects local community economic development as well as debates concerning how to equitably distribute the burden of recovering from flood events.

Opponents of eliminating subsidized rates argue that the Biggert-Waters Act does not explicitly address the affordability concerns of existing policyholders in high-risk flood zones and FEMA does not have sufficient data on policyholders' ability to pay; however, the agency has begun implementing sharply higher flood insurance rates for some policyholders.

Proponents of eliminating subsidized rates maintain that Congress explicitly found that ensuring the long-term financial stability of the NFIP is in the public interest and the Biggert-Waters law seeks to further this goal by transitioning subsidized rates to actual risk-based rates. Removal of premium subsidies and grandfathered policies would reduce taxpayer costs associated with a fiscally unsound government insurance program while reducing the arguably hidden financial incentives that encourage building in flood-prone and environmental sensitive coastal areas.

The key policy questions facing Congress with respect to the post-reform NFIP issues include

- addressing the affordability issue;
- deciding whether, how, and when to privatize flood risk;
- exploring options for improving flood risk analysis and maps; and
- finding innovative new approaches to financing the nation's increasing exposure to hurricane-induced catastrophic floods and coastal hazards.

On January 17, 2014, President Barack Obama signed into law the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014 (Division F, Title V, Section 572 of P.L. 113-76), that prohibits FEMA from implementing Section 100207 (the "grandfather" provision) of the Biggert-Waters Act, codified at Section 1308(h) of the 1968 Act, during FY2014. The Omnibus requires FEMA to cease any current planning and development for Section 100207. However, according to FEMA, because Section 100207 does not relate to changes to flood insurance rates that have already taken place, and the Omnibus does not roll back any rate increases that have already occurred, the effect of Section 572 of the Omnibus is that FEMA would not implement Section 100207 until 12 to 18 months after the start of FY2015. FEMA indicated that the agency will continue to map flood risk as authorized by current law.

On January 31, 2014, the Senate passed S. 1926, the Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, to delay the increase in rates for six months after the later of the date on which FEMA proposes the draft affordability framework or the date on which FEMA certifies that the agency has implemented a flood mapping approach that employs sound scientific and engineering methodologies to determine varying levels of flood risk in all areas participating in the NFIP. The report to Congress would assess "methods for establishing an affordability framework for [NFIP], including methods to aid individuals to afford risk-based premiums under [NFIP] through targeted assistance rather than generally subsidized rates, including means-tested vouchers."

Several other bills—H.Amdt. 121 (Cassidy) of H.R. 2217 (Carter), H.R. 2199 (Richmond), H.R. 3370 (Grimm), H.R. 3511 (Capuano), and S. 996 (Landrieu) have been introduced to delay implementation of the rate structure reform provisions of the new law and provide additional funding for the completion of the affordability study.

Contents

Introduction	1
Background	1
A Nation Exposed to Flood Risk	
The Biggert-Waters Act	
The Premium Rate Structure of the NFIP	
Actuarial vs. Subsidized Premium Rates	
Flood Risk Assessment Methods Actuarial Full-Risk Rates and Affordability Concerns	
Overview of Key Premium Rate Structure Reform Provisions: P.L. 112-141 and P.L. 113-	
76 (Section 572)	8
Section 100205—Pre-FIRM Premium Structures	
Timeline on the Implementation of Section 100205	
Section 100207—Grandfathered Policy Eligibility	
Section 100236(a)(3)—Affordability Study and Report	
The Effects of Removing Pre-FIRM Premium Subsidies and Grandfathered Rates	12
Responses to Affordability Issues and Concerns	13
Opposition to the Removal of Premium Subsidies	14
Supporters of the Removal of Premium Subsidies	
Responses from the States	
Responses from Insurance Policy Experts	
Major Legislation	
H.R. 3370 (Grimm)	
S. 1926 (Menendez)	
Analysis of Bills	
Conclusion	∠ 1
Tables	
Table 1. Flood Insurance Rate Map Zones	5
Table 2. Effects of Rate Revision on Average Annual Written Premium Based on Projected Distribution of Business and Projected Amounts of Insurance, NFIP Actuarial Rate Review, 2011	13
Table A-1. NFIP October 1, 2013, Annual Rate Change	
Table B-1. Side-by-Side Comparison of H.R. 3370 (Leadership Substitute) and S. 1926,	23
as Passed the Senate	25
Appendixes	
Appendix A. NFIP October 1, 2013 Rate Table: Zone AE, Single Family Residential	20
Dwelling, Non-elevated with No Basement or Crawl Space.	
Appendix B. Side-by-Side of H.R. 3370 and S. 1926	25

Contacts

Author Contact Information.	32)
Author Contact information.	2	4

Introduction

This report examines legislative efforts in Congress to delay the gradual phase-out of subsidized flood insurance premiums, which is required under Sections 100205 and 100207 of P.L. 112-141, the Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform and Modernization Act of 2012. This new law extended the authorization for the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) for five years, through September 30, 2017, while requiring significant program reforms affecting flood insurance, flood hazard mapping, and floodplains management. The law also produced widespread policy concerns about affordability and, more broadly, the feasibility of balancing program solvency concerns against the marketability of actuarial full-risk rates policies that now consider the elevation or height of the structure.

After a brief discussion of the circumstances surrounding the nation's increasing exposure to flood risk that led to changes in the NFIP's premium rate structure, the report examines the NFIP's rate-making process, including the elevation rating components required to rate policies, and summarizes key relevant rate structure reform and solvency provisions required by the Biggert-Waters Act.

The report focuses specifically on key relevant differences between Sections 100205 and 100207 of the Biggert-Waters Act that affect the transition of subsidized rates for certain properties² to risk premium rates, more commonly known as full-risk or actuarial rates.³ It also examines the Homeowner Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (S. 1926) that passed the Senate on January 31, 2014, H.R. 3370 (the legislative substitute bill), and Section 572 of the FY2014 Consolidated Appropriations Act (P.L. 113-76) that President Barack Obama signed into law on January 17, 2014.

Background

In 1968, after several decades of continuous effort to control flood losses with flood control infrastructure (primarily levees), Congress enacted the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968⁴ to establish a federal program to identify and communicate flood hazards and risks and to offer flood insurance to property owners and businesses in communities that agree to adopt flood mitigation measures (i.e., land use planning and construction standards).

Currently, the NFIP has about 5.6 million policies providing over \$1.2 trillion in coverage in almost 22,000 communities in 56 states and jurisdictions that participate in the program. The program collects about \$3.5 billion in annual premium revenue. According to FEMA, the

² See 42 U.S.C, 4014(a)(2).

1

¹ P.L. 112-141; 126 Stat. 405.

³ See 42 U.S.C. §4014(a)(1)(A).

⁴ P.L. 90-448; 82 Stat. 572.

⁵ Testimony of Craig Fugate, Administrator of *Federal Emergency Management Agency, U.S. Department of Homeland Security,* before the House Committee on Financial Services, Subcommittee on Housing and Insurance, "Implementation of the Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2012: Protection Taxpayers and Homeowners," November 19, 2013, at http://financialservices.house.gov/uploadedfiles/hhrg-113-ba04-wstate-cfugate-20131119.pdf.

⁶ Ibid.

program saves the nation an estimated \$1.6 billion annually in flood losses avoided because of the NFIP's building and floodplain management regulations.⁷

Flood insurance premium rates were initially set "based on consideration of the risk involved and accepted actuarial principles." In 1973, Congress amended the 1968 Act to: (1) authorize FEMA to set rates at less than full-risk rates, which FEMA refers to as subsidized rates, and (2) prohibit FEMA from offering subsidized rates to properties that were constructed or substantially improved after December 31, 1974, or after the date upon which FEMA published the first Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for the community, whichever was later. Therefore, by statute, premium rates charged on pre-FIRM structures are explicitly lower than what would be expected to cover expected costs.

The availability of subsidized flood insurance was intended to allow floodplain residents to contribute in some measure to pre-funding their recovery from a flood disaster instead of relying solely on federal disaster assistance. In essence, insurance could distribute the financial burden among those protected by flood insurance and the public. However, the statute's provision creates an inability to collect the full risk-based premiums on about 1.1 million of the program's 5.6 million policies and has, arguably, eroded the program's long-term ability to pay future claims made by all policyholders.

The actuarial shortfall from charging less than full-risk (or actuarial premiums) has drawn greater scrutiny as a result of (1) the catastrophic flood events from 2005 through 2012, (2) uncertainty surrounding future flood risk, especially in coastal hazard areas, and (3) the budgetary consequences of frequent ad-hoc emergency supplemental appropriations for disaster relief on the deficit and the program's solvency.

Prior to Hurricane Katrina in 2005, the NFIP had been able to cover its cost, borrowing relatively small amounts from the U.S. Treasury to pay claims, and then repaying the loans with interests. However, in the wake of the unexpected need for significant intergovernmental borrowing from the U.S. Treasury to pay claims, and the recognition among policymakers of the nation's increasing vulnerability to hurricane-induced catastrophic flood events in coastal hazard areas, Congress passed legislation in 2012 to address the program's long-term solvency.

A Nation Exposed to Flood Risk

The nation is currently experiencing a new era of frequent and severe extreme weather and climatic events that have produced more frequent catastrophic flood events. From the early 1990s through 2012, policy makers faced the challenges associated with the nation's increasing vulnerability to flood risks, as evidenced by the series of catastrophic flood events, including Hurricanes Andrew and Iniki in 1992, Katrina, Rita, and Wilma in 2005, Ike in 2008, Irene in 2010, and Sandy in 2012, that required significant levels of NFIP borrowing from the U.S. Treasury to meet NFIP's contractual obligations with respect to residential and small business flood damage losses. According to FEMA, pre-FIRM subsidized properties have accounted for a

.

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ 42 U.S.C. §4014(a)(1).

⁹ 42 U.S.C. §4015(c).

disproportionate share of total flood losses under the NFIP. At the end of 2013, the NFIP had about \$24 billion in debt. 10

Perceptions of the nation's growing exposure to coastal flooding and concerns that the federal government flood-risk management program was both in debt and fiscally unsound drove efforts in Congress to reform and modernize the NFIP after the program expired on September 30, 2008. Since then, Congress has sought a long-term reauthorization of the NFIP and to find ways to strengthen the program's long-term financial sustainability. These efforts have largely taken the form of the gradual elimination of pre-FIRM premium subsidies and grandfather policies.

The key issues of contention have been

- what to do about the nation's increasing exposure to flood risks,
- the cost and consequences of flooding,
- premium rate structure changes designed to strengthen the financial solvency of the NFIP, and
- the affordability of flood insurance coverage in the aftermath of the phase-out of premium subsidies on pre-FIRM properties and policies "grandfathered" into the program.

The Biggert-Waters Act

On July 6, 2012, Congress passed and the President signed into law P.L. 112-141, the Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2012 (Biggert-Waters Act) that reauthorized the NFIP for five years while requiring significant program changes designed to make the program more financially sustainable and to ensure that flood insurance rates more accurately reflect the real risk of flooding. Three sections of the Biggert-Waters Act changed the NFIP's premium rate structures and authorized a draft the affordability framework study: Section 100205 (pre-FIRM subsidy), Section 100207 (grandfathered rates), and Section 100236 (studies and reports). 11

The Premium Rate Structure of the NFIP

The NFIP's risk assessment and pricing model is based on a hydrologic model for estimating the expected average annual flood damage and insurance rate originally developed in the 1960s by the U.S. Army Corp of Engineers. The rating methodology is applied on a structure-by-structure basis within flood maps that link different risk categories and associated insurance risk zones to

. .

¹⁰ Testimony of Craig Fugate, Administrator of the *U.S. Department of Homeland Security's Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)*, "Implementation of the Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2012: One Year After Enactment," before the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs, Subcommittee on Economic Policy, September 18 2013, at http://www.dhs.gov/news/2013/09/18/written-testimony-fema-administrator-craig-fugate-senate-banking-housing-and-urban.

¹¹ Other financial solvency-related provisions of the Biggert-Waters law would (1) allow insurance rate increases of 20% annually (previously capped at 10%); (2) require that premiums to be calculated based on "average historical loss year," including catastrophe loss years; (3) require the creation of a Reserve Fund; and (4) require the development of a plan for repaying debt owed to the U.S. Treasury.

floodplain management regulations, particularly in high-risk areas where there is at least a 1% annual chance of flooding—the so-called "base flood."

FEMA uses three primary key characteristics to classify properties based on flood risks. Structures are categorized by (1) specific risk zone, (2) the elevation of the structure relative to the Base Flood Elevation (BFE), 12 and (3) occupancy type (e.g., single family, 2-4 family, other residential, non-residential and mobile/manufactured homes), along with other specific determinants of risk. The flood risk zones—based on return periods that cover a wide range of flooding events—are modeled using national topographical maps, hydrological data, digital terrain (elevation) models, extreme flood scenarios, and flood vulnerability data, including flood hazard data and historical flood loss data.

Owners of property with a mortgage from a federally regulated lender and living in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA)—that is, a high-risk zone¹³—are subject to a mandatory purchase requirement. Flood insurance is optional for residents living in low-risk, non-SFHAs.¹⁴ Residents outside of SFHAs typically voluntarily purchase a low-cost Preferred Risk Policy (PRP).

Table 1 shows flood-risk zones that are depicted on FIRMs. FEMA is responsible for undertaking Flood Insurance Studies (FISs) nationwide to identify areas within the United States having special flood, mudslide, and flood-related erosion hazards; assess the flood risk; and designate insurance zones. FEMA consults with local officials to determine BFEs throughout the community. Communities are required to submit pertinent data concerning flood hazards, flooding experience, mitigation plans to avoid potential flood hazards, and estimates of historical and prospective economic impacts on the community. ¹⁶

_

¹² The *BFE* is the water-surface elevation of the base flood, which is the 1%-annual-chance flood, commonly called the 100-year flood. The probability is 1% that rising water will reach BFE height in any given year. The depth of the base flood is calculated by subtracting the ground elevation from the BFE.

¹³ Zones A (A1-30), AH, AO, V, VE, V1-30 are designated high-risk zones—otherwise known as Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHAs) on the community's FIRM. Mandatory flood insurance purchase requirements apply for structures with mortgages from a federally regulated lender. Two other designations for classifying high-risk flood zones are the Zone AR, which is an area where a levee or similar structure is determined not to provide sufficient flood protection, but is undergoing restoration, and the Zone A99—an area where a federal flood protection structure is under construction to provide the necessary flood protection standard. The purchase of flood insurance is mandatory for structures in Zones AR and A99 if the property owner has a mortgage from a federally regulated lender. The Zone A99 designation has a rate similar to an X-zone rate.

¹⁴ Zones B, C, X, shaded X are designated as a low- to moderate-risk area. Flood insurance is not required, but FEMA recommends the purchase of a Preferred Risk Policy (PRP).

^{15 44} C.F.R. §64.1.

¹⁶ 44 C.F.R. §66.1.

Table I. Flood Insurance Rate Map Zones

Zone Symbol	Descrip	tion				
Zone A	The 100-year or base floodplain. There are seven types of A Zones:					
	Α	The base floodplain is mapped by approximate methods, i.e., BFEs are not determined. This is often called an unnumbered A Zone or an approximate A Zone.				
	A1-30	These are known as numbered A Zones (e.g., A7 or A14). This is the base floodplain where the FIRM shows a BFE (old format).				
	AE	The base floodplain where base floor elevations are provided. AE Zones are now used on new format FIRMs instead of A1-A30.				
	AO	The base floodplain with sheet flow, ponding, or shallow flooding. Base flood elevation (feet above ground) is provided.				
	AH	Shallow flooding base floodplain. BFEs are provided.				
	A99	Area to be protected from base flood by levees or Federal Flood Protection Systems under construction. BFEs are not determined.				
	AR	The base floodplain that results from the decertification of a previously accredited flood protection system that is in the process of being restored to provide a 100-year or greater level of flood protection.				
Zones V and VE	V	The coastal area subject to a velocity hazard (wave action) where BFEs are not determined on the FIRM.				
	VE	The coastal area subject to a velocity hazard (wave action) where BFEs are provided on the FIRM.				
Zone B and Zone X (Shaded)	year floo areas pro	moderate flood hazard, usually the area between the limits of the 100-year and 500-ds. B Zones are also used to designate base floodplains of lesser hazards, such as otected by levees from the 100-year flood, or shallow flooding areas with average f less than one foot or drainage areas less than one square mile.				
Zone C and Zone X (Unshaded)	Zone Cor design	minimal flood hazard, usually depicted on FIRMs as above the 500-year flood level. may have ponding and local drainage problems that do not warrant a detailed study nation as base floodplain. Zone X is the area determined to be outside the 500-year disprotected by levee from 100-year flood.				
Zone D	Area of u	undetermined but possible flood hazard.				

Source: Federal Emergency Management Agency, Flood Insurance Maps (44 CFR §64.4).

Actuarial vs. Subsidized Premium Rates

Prior to the enactment of the Biggert-Waters law, FEMA used two types of premium rate structures and five risk categories to determine rates charged each policyholder in the NFIP. The rate structures are (1) subsidized rates and (2) actuarial full-risk rates based on the probability of a given level of flooding, damage estimates based on that level of flooding, and accepted actuarial principles.

Subsidized rates are available to properties constructed or substantially damaged or improved before either December 31, 1974, or the effective date of the initial FIRM, whichever is later. Subsidized rates are countrywide rates based on broad occupancy type classifications, which produce a premium income less than the expected expense and loss payments for the flood insurance policies issued on that basis.

FEMA also offered *grandfathered rates* on properties in SFHA built in compliance with the flood map in effect at the time of construction that kept rates that reflected that compliance even if a

later flood map would increase their premium. Grandfathered rates were also available for structures built outside of the SFHA and later remapped into a high-risk insurance zone in which case they were eligible to purchase insurance based on an average cross-subsidized rate. With respect to grandfathered properties, FEMA says they are not subsidized; instead, the agency establishes cross subsidies within classes of structures to maintain the actuarial integrity of the rate structure

Actuarial rates, which are used to estimate actual loss exposure in flood-prone areas as part of the rating of post-FIRM construction (i.e., properties built after the issuance of a community's FIRM), are based on the hydrologic method of ratemaking that uses data on the occurrence of floods and damage—and consideration of the risk involved and accepted actuarial principles.

Flood Risk Assessment Methods

FEMA's overall rate-setting methodology is based on a hydrologic/financial model originally developed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, as described in a 1966 report by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).¹⁷ The basic logic of the model is to combine estimated flood risk probabilities with expected flood damage and set rates for a property according to its risk of being flooded—that is, the expected value calculation based on measures of the frequency (flood risk probability) and severity (expected flood damage) of floods.

FEMA estimates the probabilities that floods of different severities—that is, *probability of elevation* (PELV) values—relative to BFE, which will occur in a given year. The flood risk data are generated on the basis of detailed engineering studies, available flood insurance data, simulations, and professional judgments. Probabilities differ because the degree to which flood waters will reach above or below the BFE will vary across risk zones. PELV tables provide detailed information, by flood zone, about the frequency with which floods of all possible water surface elevations can be expected to occur.

FEMA also calculates the amount of structural damages that occurs when a flood occurs. Estimates are made of the percentage of the value of a structure expected to be damaged. This is the depth-percentage-damage relationship or the *damage by elevation* (DELV) values, which are presented by 1-foot increments of flood level within the structure and expressed as the average percentage of the property's value that will be damaged due to a flood of that elevation.

Data on elevation-frequency and depth-damage relationships allow a summation of the range of flood probabilities and their associated damage to property and contents. The NFIP's current system takes expected damages and converts it to expected loss per \$100 of property value covered by insurance.

¹⁷ On August 10, 1966, President Lyndon Johnson submitted a report from the U.S. Task Force on Federal Flood Control Policy to the Speaker of the House of Representatives that examined ways the federal government could decrease flood losses without spending heavily on flood controls. The task force report concluded that a national program of flood insurance should be implemented and an integrated program be established to mitigate losses. The report warned, however, that an insurance program could aggravate rather than reduce development of the nation's floodplains, and estimated that subsidies for existing high-risk properties would be required for approximately 25 years. See, *Communication from the President of the United States, Transmittal of a Report by the Task Force on Federal Flood Control Policy: A Unified National Program for Managing Flood Losses*, 89th Congress, 2d Session, House Document No. 465, August 10, 1966, at http://www.loc.gov/law/find/hearings/floods/floods89-465.pdf.

Below is the formula for pricing flood insurance:

RATE =
$$\left[\sum_{i=Min}^{Max} (PELV_i \times DELV_i)\right] \times \frac{LADJ \times DED \times UINS}{EXLOSS}$$

- PELV is the probability that floodwaters reach a certain depth (frequency)
- DELV is the ratio of the flood damage to the value of the insurable properties (severity)
- LADJ, DED converts from expected flood damage to expected loss and loss adjustment dollars paid
- UINS is an underinsurance factor
- EXLOSS is the loading for expenses and contingency

Actuarial Full-Risk Rates and Affordability Concerns

According to FEMA, pre-FIRM premium subsidized properties typically pay less than actuarial premium rates. Pre-FIRM subsidized properties were not required to submit elevation certificates because the base elevation of the structure was not a rating factor. After the enactment of Biggert-Waters, FEMA pursued an "elevation rating" process that considers for the first time the elevation of all structures, including pre-FIRM structures. This means owners of pre-FIRM structures must now provide FEMA with elevation certificates to ensure that their rates accurately reflect the actual risk of flood damage.

The key to understanding the underlying affordability issues of contention surrounding the reforms made to the NFIP's premium rate structure is to recognize that, in the context of the phase-out of pre-FIRM premium subsidies and grandfathered policy discounts authorized under Section 100205 and Section 100207 of Biggert-Waters, FEMA now considers the expected flood damage or DELV factor (elevation relative to lowest floor of the house) when setting rates for pre-FIRM subsidized and grandfathered properties. Because pre-FIRM properties are statistically at greater risk (probability) of flooding because of their elevation relative to the BFE, their new rates could be large and presumably unaffordable to the average consumer. For others, the sharp and immediate increase in premiums has made it difficult for them to sell their homes.

The response by some Members of Congress to the effects of the removal of pre-FIRM premium subsidies and grandfathered policies on policyholders and the affordability of flood insurance policies for those that truly cannot afford the increases is to consider legislative measures that would roll back the premiums or lengthen the time policyholders would have to move to full-risk premium rates. The latter option is possible by linking rate increases to FEMA's issuance of the mandated affordability study and possible affordability framework.

Overview of Key Premium Rate Structure Reform Provisions: P.L. 112-141 and P.L. 113-76 (Section 572)

Section 100205—Pre-FIRM Premium Structures

Section 100205(a)(1)(A) of the Biggert-Waters Act identifies the types of properties subject to the phase-out while Section 100205(c)(3) sets the permissible rate for premium increases. Together, these two sections authorized FEMA to phase-out certain pre-FIRM premium subsidies by increasing subsidized premiums 25% each year until rates reach the full-risk rate for certain types of pre-FIRM properties. 18 The type of structures affected by this change include

- Non-primary (non-principal) residential property: ¹⁹
- Business properties (non-residential occupancy);
- Severe repetitive loss (SRL) properties;
- Properties that have incurred NFIP claim payments exceeding the fair market value of the property; and
- Properties that, on or after July 6, 2012, have experienced or sustained substantial damage or improvement exceeding 50% and 30%, respectively, of the fair market value of such property.²⁰

FEMA is prohibited from offering subsidized rates for pre-FIRM subsidized policies that are new, lapsed, or assigned, which were previously eligible for subsidized rates.²¹ FEMA now requires owners of these properties, at the time of renewals effective on or after October 1, 2013, to submit an Elevation Certificate (EC) including photographs to determine full-risk rating using the current FIRM.²² The following pre-FIRM policies are affected:

- Subsidized policies written on properties not insured by the NFIP as of July 6, 2012, but before October 1, 2013.
- Subsidized policies that were written as new business or as an assigned policy as a result of the property being purchased on or after July 6, 2012, but before October 1, 2013.2
- Subsidized policies under the NFIP that have lapsed, and coverage is reinstated following the lapse (for reasons other than community suspension), where the

¹⁸ The Biggert-Waters Act also provided for increases in the annual cap on premium rate increases from 10% to 20%, and allows for the option of annual or installment premium payments by the policyholder.

¹⁹ This phase out began with P.L. 112-123, legislation that provided a short-term reauthorization for the NFIP.

²⁰ 42 U.S.C. §4014(a)(2)(E)(i)-(ii),

²¹ Section 100205(a)(1)(B).

²² Policies rated in D zones or Unnumbered V zones on the FIRM do not require an Elevation Certificate, but must provide at least two photographs before the policy can be renewed.

²³ Renewals of policies receiving subsidized rates and covering a property purchased on or after July 6, 2012, are subject to full-risk rating on the first renewal effective on or after October 1, 2013.

reinstatement date is effective on or after October 4, 2012, and before October 1, 2013.²⁴

 Prospective insured who refuse to accept an offer for mitigation assistance by the FEMA.²⁵

Timeline on the Implementation of Section 100205

- On January 1, 2013, FEMA began phasing out subsidized premium rates for all non-primary residential properties. Rate increases for new policies and renewal policies became effective January 1, 2013.
- On October 1, 2013, FEMA began phasing out pre-FIRM premium subsidies on businesses, severe repetitive loss (SRL) properties, and any property that has incurred flood-related damage in which the cumulative amounts of NFIP flood insurance claim payments equaled or exceeded the fair market value of the property. This means that, as of October 1, 2013, pre-FIRM subsidized policies that renewed after that date began experiencing premium rate increases 25% annually until their average risk premium rate is equal to the average of the risk premium rates for actuarially rated policies. 27
- Section 100205(a)(2) provides that, except for properties not covered by an NFIP policy or purchased after the Biggert-Waters Act's enactment date, the amendments made by Biggert-Waters (amending §4014(a)(2) and adding subsections (g)(3)-(4) and (h)) shall become effective 90 days after the act's date of enactment.
- Primary residences with policies in place at the time the Biggert-Waters Act was enacted will keep their subsidized premiums until the property is sold or the property lapses in coverage as a result of deliberate choice. If the property is sold or a new policy is purchased, FEMA will charge these policyholders the full-risk rates.²⁸
- Policyholders covered by a Preferred Risk Policy (PRP)—those grandfathered when the property moved from low to moderate risk zones to a high-risk zone—are not affected by Section 100205(B).

_

²⁴ FEMA has made an exception in the case of a lapse in coverage if a pre-FIRM subsidized policy lapses due to community suspension. However, FEMA is permitted to use subsidized rates if the application and premium is received within 180 days of the community reinstatement date. Owners of these properties will be required to obtain an Elevation Certificate to determine full-risk rating. These properties will be immediately charged full-cost rates. See *Letter from David L. Miller Associate Administrator, Federal Insurance and Mitigation Administration*, "October 1 2013 Program Changes, Attachment A," March 29, 2013, located at http://www.idwr.idaho.gov/WaterManagement/FloodPlainMgmt/PDFs/

Attachment%20A%20Summary%20of%20the%20NFIP%20October%202013%20Program%20Changes%20final.pdf.

²⁵ 42 U.S.C. §4014(g); P.L. 112-141, §100205(a)(1)(B).

²⁶ According to FEMA, the agency will phase out subsidies for substantially improved properties after it changes its regulatory definition for substantial improvement.

²⁷ Section 100205(a)(1)(A).

²⁸ 42 U.S.C. §4014(g).

Section 100207 - Grandfathered Policy Eligibility

Section 100207 of the Biggert-Waters Act requires FEMA to phase-in full-risk rates over a five-year period for any policyholder located in an area with a revised or updated FIRM.²⁹ The changes made by Section 100207 were intended to essentially eliminate FEMA's practice of offering discounted rates to properties subject to changing risk based on revised FIRMs. Premiums for pre-FIRM subsidized primary residency properties affected by map changes will increase 20% annually over five years until it reaches full-risk rates.

According to FEMA, the elimination of subsidies for some pre-FIRM policies does not affect grandfathered procedures except as noted below. Although Section 100207 of the Biggert-Waters Act does have provisions that will change FEMA's grandfathered policy eligibility rules and change rates, recently enacted law prohibits the agency from implementing those changes until after FY2015. (See discussion below.)

- 1. There is no change to current NFIP grandfathered procedures as a result of the October 1, 2013, program changes. New and assigned policies may continue to use "built-in-compliance" and "continuous coverage" grandfathered procedures, except where a new policy or an assigned policy is associated with the new purchase of a building constructed on or before December 31, 1974, or before the community's initial FIRM, that was previously rated using pre-FIRM subsidized rates. The pre-FIRM subsidized rates are those in the October 1, 2012, edition of the NFIP Flood Insurance Manual.
- 2. There is no change to the NFIP grandfathered procedures as a result of the October 1, 2013, program changes for any post-FIRM or non-subsidized pre-FIRM buildings that are rated using the "continuous coverage" NFIP grandfathered procedure. In addition, there is no change to the NFIP grandfathered procedures for buildings that were "built-in-compliance" with the FIRM in effect at the time of construction. This applies to all post-FIRM buildings and to those pre-FIRM buildings constructed on or before December 31, 1974, but after a community's initial FIRM date.
- 3. The NFIP grandfathered procedure for "continuous coverage" cannot be used in the case of a policy assignment in connection with the purchase of a pre-FIRM property located in Zone A, AE, A1-A30, AO, AH, V. VE, V1-30, or D that was rated using pre-FIRM subsidized rates. If the property is located in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) and was previously rated with a zone other than B,C, X, A99, AR, or AR Dual Zones without elevation information, an Elevation Certificate and photographs must be obtained (in V and D zones, only photographs are required). The current FIRM information must be used to rate the policy.

On January 17, 2014, President Barack Obama signed into law the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014,³⁰ that prohibits FEMA from implementing Section 100207 (the "grandfather" provision) of the Biggert-Waters Act, codified at Section 1308(h) of the 1968 Act. The Omnibus requires FEMA to cease any current planning and development for Section 100207. However,

_

²⁹ 42 U.S.C. §4015(h).

³⁰ Division F, Title V, Section 572 of P.L. 113-76.

according to FEMA, because Section 100207 does not relate to changes to flood insurance rates that have already taken place, and the Omnibus does not roll back any rate increases that have already occurred, the effect of Section 572 of the Omnibus is that FEMA would not implement Section 100207 until 12 to 18 months after the start of FY2015. FEMA indicated that the agency will continue to map flood risk as authorized by current law.

Section 100236(a)(3) - Affordability Study and Report

Sections 100231 through 100237 of the Biggert-Waters Act authorized several studies and corresponding reports. Section 100236 requires FEMA to conduct a study and issue a report to Congress assessing "methods for establishing an affordability framework for [NFIP], including methods to aid individuals to afford risk-based premiums under [NFIP] through targeted assistance rather than generally subsidized rates, including means-tested vouchers." Specifically, FEMA is required to contract with the National Academy of Sciences (NAS) to conduct "an economic analysis of the costs and benefits of a flood insurance program with full risk-based premiums, combined with means-tested federal assistance to aid individuals who cannot afford coverage, through an insurance voucher program." FEMA is also required to submit a report that includes the study and policy analysis to committees of the House of Representatives and the Senate 270 days after the enactment of the Biggert-Waters Act.

On January 30, 2014, an ad hoc committee of the NAS began Phase 1 of the study—*Analysis of Costs and Benefits of Reforms to the National Flood Insurance Program*—to design alternative approaches that could be used to conduct a cost-benefit analysis of the NFIP, as mandated by Section 100236. The study, according to the Biggert-Waters Act, will compare benefits and costs to the federal government of: (1) an insurance program with risk-based premiums combined with means-tested federal assistance, through a voucher program for example, to aid individuals who cannot afford coverage, and (2) the current system with discounted rates and federally funded disaster relief for those without coverage.

Phase 1 of the NAS affordability study is expected to produce a report that designs alternative frameworks that could be used for conducting the benefit-cost analysis (the subject of Phase 2 of the study). Specific issues that will be addressed in the Phase 1 study and report include (1) methods for establishing an affordability framework, including means-tested vouchers, for the NFIP; (2) data issues such as needs, availability, quality, and quantity; (3) appropriate and necessary assumptions and definitions, including "affordability," "full risk-based premiums," and impacts on participation rates; and (4) appropriate analytical methods and related considerations, including models, computing software, and geographic areas to be analyzed.

In Phase 2 of the study, researchers are expected to consider the entire federal costs of flooding when comparing the NFIP affordability program to one with vouchers. For example, if a voucher program creates greater participation in the NFIP than subsidies, then the subsidized scenario will need to account for FEMA's individual assistance, Small Business Administration subsidized loans, etc. In addition to considering costs and benefits to the federal government, the design alternatives will consider costs and benefits as they relate to individuals and communities.

³² Section 100236(b).

³¹ Section 100236(a)(3).

³³ Section 100236(c).

The approximate issue date for the Phase 1 report is the end of 2014.

The Effects of Removing Pre-FIRM Premium Subsidies and Grandfathered Rates

As mentioned previously, FEMA's rate-setting process has allowed the agency to set rates below the full cost for some structures built before the community's initial FIRM. Recognizing the increasing frequency and severity of hurricane-induced coastal flooding, and the NFIP's increasing debt owed to the U.S. Treasury, which now stand at about \$24 billion, and Congress approved changes under Biggert-Waters to make flood rates more accurately reflect the true risk of flooding.

According to FEMA,

- approximately 19% (or 1,075,248) of the NFIP's 5.6 million total policyholders receive subsidized premium rates, as of December 31, 2012.
- about 5% of all NFIP policies (252,851 policies)—that is, non-primary residences, businesses, and severe repetitive loss properties—will see immediate rate increases under the Biggert-Waters law.
- 10% of all policies cover subsidized primary residences (578,312), which will remain subsidized unless or until sold to new owners or the policy lapses.
- 4% of the total NFIP policies include subsidized condominiums and non-condo multifamily structures (244,085) that will keep their subsidies until FEMA develops guidance for their removal.

The remaining 4,480,669 policyholders are post-FIRM properties subject to actuarial rates.

The effects of charging full-risk (actuarial) rates for pre-FIRM properties are that owners of these properties must, for the first time, obtain Elevation Certificates (ECs) that show the elevation (height) of the lowest floor of a building relative to the community's base (1-percent-annual-chance) flood.³⁴ When the elevation level becomes a rating factor for pre-FIRM structures, the resulting full-risk rates could become unaffordable for many property owners.

Table 2 and **Table A-1** provide a rough illustrative comparison of premium rates before and after implementation of Section 100205 of Biggert-Waters. For example, **Table A-1**, in **Appendix A**, shows actuarial full-risk rates based on flood risk zones that would apply when the elevation of the structure is a rating factor in determining the rates to be charged.

³⁴ The *base flood* includes the following flood zones shown on flood maps: A, AO, AH, A1-30, AE, A99, AR, AR/A1-30, AR/AE, AR/AO, AR/AH, AR/A, VO, V1-V30, and V.

Table 2. Effects of Rate Revision on Average Annual Written Premium Based on Projected Distribution of Business and Projected Amounts of Insurance, NFIP Actuarial Rate Review, 2011

	Distribution of Business	Average Annual Premium with October 2011 Rates	Increase over Annual Premium with Current Rates
Regular Program - Actuarial Rates			
AE	29.10%	\$527.93	4.70%
A	1.70%	\$864.66	5.50%
AO, AH, AOB & AHB	8.20%	\$389.34	0.50%
Total Zones AE, A, AO, AH, AO, AHB	39.00%	\$513.18	4.10%
POST-81 V,VE	0.80%	\$3,088.06	3.50%
B,C,X (Standard)	7.80%	\$637.87	4.50%
PRP	30.90%	\$362.08	0.00%
Total Zones B,C,X, V, VE, and PRP	39.50%	\$417.48	1.30%
Subtotal Actuarial	78.50%	\$491.74	2.90%
Regular Program -Subsidized Rates			
Pre-FIRM AE	16.30%	\$1,219.87	5.10%
Pre-FIRM V,VE	0.70%	\$1,897.37	7.40%
Pre-FIRM Other	3.80%	\$1,115.27	4.80%
Total Pre-Firm Subsidized	20.80%	\$1,229.18	5.20%
75-81 POST V, VE	0.10%	\$1,571.23	9.70%
A99 & AR	0.50%	\$960.71	4.90%
EMERGENCY	0.00%	\$433.62	0.00%
Subtotal Subsidized	21.50%	\$1,224.04	5.20%
TOTAL	100.00%	\$649.11	3.80%

Source: U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Federal Emergency Management Agency, National Flood Insurance Program, NFIP Actuarial Rate Review, October 1, 2011, "Effects of Rate Revisions on Written Premium," at http://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1809-25045-6893/actuarial_rate_review2011.pdf.

Note: The numbers in the table might not add up due to rounding.

Responses to Affordability Issues and Concerns

In the aftermath of Biggert-Waters reforms and FEMA's adoption of "elevation rating" of pre-FIRM structures, owners of certain properties that, heretofore, did not have to consider the elevation of the structure in the insurance pricing process, now face relatively large rate increases. Although the new elevation-rating requirement is program-wide, the policy implications of the affordability challenges are particularly acute in urbanized coastal communities along the Gulf of

Mexico and Atlantic coasts facing increasing exposure to coastal flood hazards, such as sea level rise, storm surge, and coastal flood inundation.

Opposition to the Removal of Premium Subsidies

Opponents of eliminating subsidized rates argue that the Biggert-Waters law does not explicitly address affordability concerns of existing policyholders facing mandatory coverage requirements and living in older, riskier homes in high-risk flood zones. Instead, the law authorized studies and reports of the effects of charging premium rates that reflect the full-estimated risk of potential flood losses. While it is critical to have a sustainable and fiscally responsible NFIP, they argue, the use of elevation rating on pre-FIRM structures that, by definition, are below BFE and subject to significant rate increases could threaten to harm the very citizens the program was designed to protect. Further, supporters of delaying rate increases maintain that, although FEMA does not have data on policyholders' ability to pay, the agency has begun implementing sharply higher flood insurance rates for some policyholders.

Supporters of the Removal of Premium Subsidies

Proponents of eliminating subsidized rates, and charging all policyholders full-risk rates, point to the NFIP's burden on taxpayers. They make two basic arguments: (1) property owners and businesses should become more aware of their flood risk and, therefore, make informed risk-management decisions; and (2) the transition from subsidized rates to actuarial rates would ensure that owners of properties that account for a disproportionate share of total losses in the program pay a premium rate that reflects their current risk of flooding.

Congress, they argue, found that ensuring the long-term financial stability of the NFIP is in the public interest, and the Biggert-Waters law seeks to further this goal by transitioning subsidized rates to actual risk-based rates. From this perspective, the removal of premium subsidies would reduce taxpayer costs associated with a fiscally unsound government insurance program and have the additional benefit of reducing hidden financial incentives that encourage building in flood-prone and environmental sensitive coastal areas.

Responses from the States

To address recent premium rate reforms and associated insurance affordability challenges facing individual policyholders in the NFIP, some states are considering ways to incentivize private insurers to enter into the flood insurance market. The state of Florida, for example, has published pure loss cost data and invited private firms to use this information—along with individual company expenses and contingency factors and profit loads—to establish flood insurance rates they wish to charge in the state's voluntary property insurance market. ³⁵

On September 16, 2013, in anticipation of FEMA's October 1, 2013, actuarial rate revisions, the Mississippi Insurance Department filed a lawsuit against FEMA, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief from the implementation of Sections 100205 and 100207 of the Biggert-Waters

³⁵ See, Michael Adams, *Insurance Journal*, "Florida Lawmakers Unveil Plan to Encourage Private Market for Flood Insurance," December 19, 2013, at http://www.insurancejournal.com/news/southeast/2013/12/19/315008.htm.

law. The plaintiff argued that, although Biggert-Waters made changes designed to make the NFIP more financially stable, and ensure that flood insurance rates more accurately reflect the real risk of flooding, FEMA should be compelled to complete the mandatory affordability studies required by the Biggert-Waters law prior to establishing new flood insurance rates. The Mississippi Insurance Commissioner has insisted that without the information obtained from the affordability study, FEMA cannot avoid arbitrary decision making.

Other states, such as Alabama, Louisiana, Florida, and Massachusetts, have joined the Mississippi Insurance Department lawsuit, filing *amici curiae* briefs in support of the plaintiffs. In general, they have argued that "FEMA failed to consider affordability when setting new premium rates and that, even if FEMA had no discretion to consider affordability when setting new premium rates, FEMA failed to utilize accepted actuarial principles and consider actual risk when calculating new rates."³⁷

FEMA Administrator Craig Fugate has in oral testimony rejected the link between the timing of the affordability study and rate implementation.³⁸ Moreover, as a defendant in the lawsuit, FEMA argues that (1) Congress instructed the agency to implement insurance premium rate increases by transitioning subsidized and grandfathered rates to actual risk-based rates for certain properties under the NFIP and (2) the Court lacks jurisdiction to compel FEMA and the National Academy of Sciences (NAS) to comply with the provisions of Section 100236.³⁹

Responses from Insurance Policy Experts

From a policy perspective, two long-term goals for the NFIP are to (1) increase private-sector involvement in the sale of flood insurance and (2) encourage technological innovations in risk assessment, pricing, and financing flood risk. For instance, insurance policy experts participating in a recent NFIP-privatization study conducted by Government Accountability Office (GAO), including representatives from FEMA, suggested various strategies that could create conditions to promote the private sale of flood insurance.⁴⁰ These strategies include eliminating subsidized rates and charging all policyholders full-risk rates, funding a direct means-based subsidy (voucher) for some policyholders, and authorizing federal reinsurance for flood risk assumed under the NFIP. Researchers at The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, have suggested the use of long-term insurance as an alternative to the standard annual catastrophe risk financing policy.⁴¹ Finally, some Members of Congress, including those on the bipartisan Congressional

³⁶ See *Mississippi Insurance Department* vs. *United States Department of Homeland Security (FEMA)*, Case No. 1:13-cv-379-LG-JMR, November 11, 2013, at https://www.mid.ms.gov/pdf/NFIP-Complaint.pdf.

³⁷ Mississippi Insurance Department vs. United States Department of Homeland Security (FEMA), "Amicus brief of the State of Florida in support of plaintiff's motion for stay or, in the alternative, for preliminary injunction," Case No. 1:13-cv-379-LG-JMR, November 11, 2013, at http://miamiherald.typepad.com/files/amici-brief-filed-as-exhibit.pdf.

³⁸ Testimony of Craig Fugate, Administrator of the *U.S. Department of Homeland Security's Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)*, "Implementation of the Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2012: Protecting Taxpayers and Homeowners," before the House Committee on Financial Services, November 19, 2013., at http://financialservices.house.gov/uploadedfiles/hhrg-113-ba04-wstate-cfugate-20131119.pdf.

³⁹ See Mississippi Insurance Department vs. United States Department of Homeland Security (FEMA), Rebuttal Brief in Support of Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, Case No. 1:13-cv-379.

⁴⁰ U.S. Government Accountability Office, "Flood Insurance: Strategies for Increasing Private Sector Involvement," GAO-14-127, January 2014.

⁴¹ See, Dwight Jaffee, Howard Kunreuther, and Erwann Michel-Kerjan, *The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, Risk Management and Decision Processes Center*, "Long Term Insurance (LTI) for Addressing (continued...)

Home Protection Caucus, have explored using alternative insurance policies designed to reduce insurance costs significantly if the policyholder agrees to a scheduled payout linked to flood watermarks relative to the elevation of the structure.

Major Legislation

The response to the implementation of Sections 100205 and 100207 of the Biggert-Waters Act was swift. Some Members of Congress introduced legislation, principle among them H.R. 3370 and S. 1846, as introduced, the Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act, that would delay the gradual phase-out of subsidized flood insurance premiums and grandfathered policies. The Biggert-Waters Act led to increased debate about affordability and, more broadly, the feasibility of balancing program solvency concerns against the marketability of actuarial full-risk rates policies that now consider the elevation or height of the structure.

H.R. 3370 (Grimm)

H.R. 3370 was originally referred to the House Committee on Financial Services and the House Committee on Rules. The House may vote on a motion to suspend the rules and pass H.R. 3370 with an amendment in the nature of a substitute, striking out the entire text of the bill and replacing it with text prepared by the House leadership. This version of the bill, dated February 21, 2014, would delay the implementation of certain provisions of the Biggert-Waters Act.

Key provisions of the substitute bill would:

- Remove the lapse in coverage, home sales, and new policy rate increase trigger (phase-in of full risk-based premium rates) for primary residences.
- Restore NFIP grandfather procedures by eliminating Section 1308(h) of the NFIA of 1968 (42 U.S.C. §4015(h)—Premium Adjustment to Reflect Current Risk of Flood.⁴²
- Impose an annual premium increase of not less than 5% but no more than 15% of the average of the risk premium rate for subsidized policies in any single risk classification.
- Impose and collect an annual premium surcharge of \$25 per year on primary residence policies and \$250 per year on business/non-primary residence NFIP policies and deposit the funds in the Reserve Fund created by the Biggert-Waters Act.
- Authorize the transfer of flood risk underwritten in the NFIP to the private reinsurance and capital markets at rates and on terms determined by the FEMA

^{(...}continued)

Catastrophe Risk," Working Paper # 2008-06-05, August 2008, at http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi= 10.1.1.183.2886&rep=rep1&type=pdf.

⁴² Section 100207 of the Biggert-Waters Act added §1308(h), which provided for the phase-out of grandfather policy rates at 20% each year, over a five-year period, to bring these policies to full risk-based premium rates. Section 4 of H.R. 3370 would restore NFIP grandfather procedures—i.e., "built-in-compliance" and "continuous coverage"—and associated discount rates.

Administrator to be reasonable and appropriate, in an amount sufficient to maintain the ability of the program to pay claims.

In addition, H.R. 3370 would authorize FEMA to use the National Flood Insurance Funds (NFIF) to reimburse policyholders who successfully appeal a map determination and to establish a Flood Insurance Advocate within FEMA to answer current and prospective policyholder questions about the flood mapping process and flood insurance rates.

S. 1926 (Menendez)

On January 31, 2014, the Senate passed S. 1926, the Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, to delay the increase in rates for six months after the later of the date on which FEMA proposes the draft affordability framework or the date on which FEMA certifies that the agency has implemented a flood mapping approach that employs sound scientific and engineering methodologies to determine varying levels of flood risk in all areas participating in the NFIP. Some have estimated that these conditions could be met at in about four years from enactment, but the bill does not specifically require such a timeline. The report to Congress would assess "methods for establishing an affordability framework for [NFIP], including methods to aid individuals to afford risk-based premiums under [NFIP] through targeted assistance rather than generally subsidized rates, including means-tested vouchers."

The Congressional Budget Office (CBO) has not released a score on S. 1926. However, it has produced scores on two bills (S. 1846 and S. 534⁴⁴) that make up the two titles of S. 1926.

The CBO score for S. 1846—legislation similar to Title I of S. 1926—indicated that the NFIP would borrow and spend an additional \$900 million over the 2012-2018 period. CBO stated that

because total borrowing is limited under current law, additional amounts borrowed over the next five years would be offset by less borrowing in later years, resulting in no net effect through 2024. In the absence of sufficient borrowing authority, CBO expects that the program would be forced to delay payment of insurance claims until additional resources became available.⁴⁵

⁴³ In February 2013, FEMA began discussions with the National Academy of Sciences (NAS) regarding the requirements for the affordability study. NAS indicated that additional time and funding were needed to complete the full scope of work contemplated in Section 100236. FEMA and NAS made a decision to pursue a two-phase approach to the analysis. The first phase, which began on January 30, 2014, entitled "Analysis of Costs and Benefits of Reforms to the National Flood Insurance Program," focuses on the design of the analysis and has a completion date of March 2015. The second phase would involve execution of the analysis. Planning for phase two will not begin until after the completion of phase one.

⁴⁴ S. 534, National Association of Registered Agents and Brokers Reform Act of 2013, would establish the NARB and authorize it to license producers of insurance to participate in multiple states. See Congressional Budget Office, "S. 534, National Association of Registered Agents and Brokers Reform Act of 2013, June 13, 2013," at http://www.cbo.gov/sites/default/files/cbofiles/attachments/s534.pdf.

⁴⁵ S. 1926 is similar to S. 1846, but have different expiration provisions. For the full 10-year period, CBO anticipates that the NFIP will reach its borrowing limit, and also assumes that Congress would not act to increase the limit. See Congressional Budget Office, S. 1846, the Homeowner Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2013, as introduced on December 17, 2013, at http://cbo.gov/sites/default/files/cbofiles/attachments/s1846.pdf.

With respect to Title II of S. 1926, CBO stated that that "enacting S. 534 would increase revenues by \$490 million and increase direct spending by \$483 million; taken together, those effects would reduce the deficit by \$7 million over the 2014-2023 period." ⁴⁶

S. 1926 would not address the changes made by Section 100205 of the Biggert-Waters Act to transition subsidized rates to actuarial risk-based rates for second properties, severe repetitive loss (SRL) properties, properties that have incurred claim payments exceeding the fair market value of the structure, and commercial properties.⁴⁷

Section 103(a) of S. 1926—Delayed Implementation of Flood Insurance Rate Increases—would delay the implementation of rate increases on the following three types of properties:

- **Grandfathered Properties.** FEMA is prohibited from implementing section 1308(h) of the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, 48 pertaining to grandfathered properties. 49
- **Pre-FIRM Properties—Not Insured.** FEMA prohibited from implementing removal of premium subsidies from all properties not insured as of July 6, 2012.⁵⁰
- **Pre-FIRM Properties—Lapsed Policies.** FEMA prohibited from implementing removal of premium subsidies on any lapsed policy as a result of the property covered by the policy no longer being required to retain such coverage.⁵¹

Section 103(a)(3)(A)-(B) of S. 1926 would delay the implementation of flood insurance rate increases until six months after the later of

- the date on which the Administration proposes the draft affordability framework; or
- the date on which the Administrator of FEMA certifies in writing to Congress that FEMA has implemented a flood mapping approach that, when applied, results in technically credible flood hazard data in all areas where FIRMS are prepared or updated.

Finally, with respect to rate structure reform, Section 103(c)—*Treatment of Pre-FIRM Properties*—of S. 1926 would require that, beginning on the date of enactment of this act through the expiration of the six-month period (i.e., after FEMA proposes the draft affordability framework and Congress implements a flood mapping approach that results in technically credible flood hazard data) FEMA restore the risk premium rate subsidies for flood insurance estimated under section 1307(a)(2) of the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. 4014(a)(2)) for the following three types of properties:

4

⁴⁶ See Congressional Budget Office, "S. 534, National Association of Registered Agents and Brokers Reform Act of 2013, June 13, 2013," at http://www.cbo.gov/sites/default/files/cbofiles/attachments/s534.pdf.

⁴⁷ See 42 U.S.C §4014 (a)(2) (A) through (D).

⁴⁸ See 42 U.S.C. §4015(h).

⁴⁹ See Section 103(a) (1) of S. 1926 that amends section 1308(h) of 1968 Act, as added by Section 100207 of Biggert-Waters.

⁵⁰ See Section 103(a)(2)(A) of S. 1926 that amends 42 U.S.C. §4014(g)(1), pertaining to properties not insured by the flood insurance program as of July 6, 2012.

⁵¹ See section 103(a)(2)(B) of S. 1926 that amends 42 U.S.C. 4014(g)(3).

- Any property not insured by the flood insurance program as of July 6, 2012;⁵²
- Any policy under the flood insurance program that has lapsed in coverage, as a result of the deliberate choice of the holder of such policy;⁵³ and
- Any property purchased after July 6, 2012.⁵⁴

Analysis of Bills

H.R. 3370 and S. 1926 would, either directly or indirectly, address the flood insurance affordability concerns.

There are several flood insurance affordability-related issues that remain.

- Uncertainty surrounding affordability and the actuarial adequacy of full-risk premium. Flood risk is highly uncertain and potentially catastrophic in nature. The draft affordability framework authorized by H.R. 3370 and S. 1926 could address, via programmatic and regulatory changes, the issues of affordability of flood insurance sold under the NFIP. The affordability study will presumably consider the entire federal costs of flooding and the feasibility of a public decision-making framework, which is arguably needed to address the uncertainty and variability in flood risk exposure, post-reform insurance pricing—the source of the affordability crisis. The affordability study would presumably also encourage more innovative thinking about alternative and more holistic approaches to financing flooding risks. Future legislation may be needed to implement some of the unknown recommendations in the required draft affordability framework found in both S. 1926 and H.R. 3370.
- Affordability of flood insurance. According to FEMA, the phase out of pre-FIRM subsidies will impact about 438,000 policies that cover businesses, second homes, and severe repetitive loss properties effective with the October 1, 2013, rate changes. Moreover, before Congress passed Section 572 of the Consolidated Appropriations Act (P.L. 113-76) to prohibit FEMA from implementing the phase-out of grandfathered policies, FEMA expected that another 715,000 policies (i.e., primary residence homes) would have been affected in 2014; however, this phase-out still occurs immediately if the policy lapses or if the home is sold.

The availability of flood insurance provides communities leverage to adopt and enforce NFIP flood mitigation requirements. However, the leverage could be diminished by adopting an actuarial rating for all pre-FIRM non-principal residences, all non-residential properties, and properties whose ownership changes or the owner refinanced a mortgage. Eliminating FEMA's policy of grandfathering properties in a previous zone or elevation class is also of concern to property owners and local communities. The adverse effects of elevation rating

⁵² See section 1307(g)(1), codified at 42 U.S.C. §4014(g)(1).

⁵³ See section 1307(g)(3), codified at 42 U.S.C. §4014(g)(2).

⁵⁴ See section 1307(g)(2), codified at 42 U.S.C. §4014(g)(2).

could be mitigated if the property owner obtains and submit an elevation certificate to FEMA.

• **Property values and property tax revenues.** The potential impact of eliminating the pre-FIRM premium subsidy will likely be greatest in communities with a relatively large number of older, negatively-elevated rates and grandfathered policies with significant flood risk.

Table B-1Table 2 in **Appendix B** provides a side-by-side comparison of H.R. 3370, the leadership substitute, and S. 1926, as passed the Senate on January 31, 2014. As with S. 1926, H.R. 3370 does not explicitly address the transition of subsidized rates to actuarial risk-based rates for second properties, SRL properties, properties that have incurred claim payments exceeding the fair market value of the structure, and commercial properties. Some of the key differences in H.R. 3370 and S. 1926 include

- 1. H.R. 3370 takes a different approach, compared to S. 1926, to addressing flood insurance affordability. It would:
 - a. Permit premium subsidies on policies covering properties not insured (as of July 6, 2012), or new purchases after July 6, 2012, by repealing 42 U.S.C Section 4014(g(1) and (2)) that requires the Administrator of FEMA to not permit premium subsidies for such new policies.
 - b. Repeal Section 100207 of the Biggert-Waters Act that phases-out grandfathered policies.
 - c. Allow purchasers of a property that, as of the date of such purchase, is covered under an existing flood insurance policy to assume the existing policy and coverage at subsidized rates for the remainder of the term of the policy. The subsidized rates would continue until the later of (1) the expiration of the assumed policy, or (2) implementation of the full Act by the Administrator.
 - d. Authorize the Administrator of FEMA to create a flood insurance policy that offers the insured the option of a high loss-deductible policy to cover property in various amounts, up to and including \$10,000. By opting for the higher annual loss deductible, the policyholder could presumably take advantage of lower expected premium rates. In contrast, S. 1926 would delay the rate increases required under the Biggert-Waters Act.
 - e. Reduce the annual premium rate increase that FEMA could charge from 20% to 15%, but not less than 5% of the average of the risk premium rates for such properties.

2. H.R. 3370 would also:

- a. Refund annual premiums of policyholders who have paid the new premium rates that became effective January 1, 2012, and October 1, 2013.
- b. Impose and collect a new premium surcharge of \$25 each year for residential properties and \$250 each year for non-residential properties.

_

⁵⁵ 42 U.S.C. §4014 (a)(2)(A) through (D).

- c. Implement a flood mapping approach for the NFIP that, when applied, results in technically credible flood hazard data in all areas where FIRMs are issued whereas S. 1926 requires this as a condition to allow the expiration of the rate freeze.
- d. Permit FEMA to transfer flood risk to private reinsurers and the capital market at rates and on terms determined by the Administration to be reasonable and appropriate, in an amount sufficient to maintain the ability of the program to pay claims.
- e. Allow states to regulate private flood insurance.
- 3. H.R. 3370 does not include language to create the National Association of Registered Agents and Brokers. 56
- 4. Section 103 of S. 1926 would delay implementation of Section 1308(h) of the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, regarding premium adjustments to reflect current risk of flood, until FEMA meets specific requirements. ⁵⁷ The delay shall expire the later of six months after the date FEMA proposes the draft affordability framework or the date that FEMA certifies in writing to Congress that the agency has implemented a flood mapping approach that results in technically credible flood hazard data in all areas applied.

Conclusion

Public debate on sharply higher rates required after the removal of premium subsidies has resulted in issues of affordability for residents in high-risk flood zones. This affordability issue has raised congressional concerns about the cost effectiveness of balancing affordability against the need to ensure the NFIP's long-term fiscal solvency. Policy makers might also consider innovative approaches to minimize future flood damages. For example, Congress might examine ways to strengthen FEMA's Hazard Mitigation Assistance (HMA) programs⁵⁸ that provide funds for projects that reduce the risk to individuals and property from natural hazards. Under the FEMA HMA program, local community officials develop projects that reduce flood damage and submit grant applications to the states—and eventually FEMA for funding.

Debate on H.R. 3370 and other measures, which would delay the removal of pre-FIRM premium subsidies and grandfathered rates, may lead Congress to consider ways to balance FEMA's use of elevation rating for pre-FIRM and grandfathered rated properties against the program's statutory mandate for coverage to be reasonably priced and widely available. Resolving the actuarial,

_

⁵⁶ See CRS Report R43095, *Insurance Agent Licensing: Overview and Background on Federal "NARAB" Legislation*, by (name redacted).

⁵⁷ The delay applies to (1) properties that are currently "grandfathered," properties that had flood insurance policies in effect when the new flood maps became effective and maintained continuous coverage or were built in compliance with flood maps in effect at the time of construction; (2) properties that purchase flood insurance after July 6, 2013; and (3) properties that were sold after July 6, 2012, that obtained new insurance.

⁵⁸ The FEMA Hazard Mitigation Programs include Hazards mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) for long-term hazard mitigation measures after a major disaster declaration and the Mitigation Assistance Grants that provides funds from the National Flood Insurance Fund on an annual basis to fund efforts to reduce or eliminate risk of flood damage to buildings insured under the NFIP.

financial, and social tensions surrounding the affordability of flood insurance coverage would arguably require a three-pronged approach to policy analysis.

The first policy analysis approach is to determine the scope of the affordability problem associated with the transition toward full-risk rates. In other words, could existing and potential policyholders afford the higher actuarial rates? But how do policy makers determine what is affordable and at what level of income? To address these policy questions, policy makers might choose to consider best practices in quantifying and mapping flood risks, including risk that accounts for future conditions, where to assign the risk (using "Elevation Rating" methods), and what behavior should be changed to reduce future flood losses and, thereby, strengthen the NFIP's long-term financial solvency.

The second policy analysis approach to addressing the affordability issue could be to find ways to reconcile the NFIP's long-standing ratemaking procedures that distinguished between the full-risk rated actuarial premiums paid and the subsidy premium amounts that will be eliminated to address the long-term solvency of the NFIP. Given the expected increases in premium rates associated with pre-FIRM structures when elevation is used in the calculation, it is questionable whether means-tested vouchers designed to address the affordability concerns of low- to moderate-income households might be sufficient to make the insurance policies marketable. Traditional principles of insurance suggest that for an insurance market to exist the policy must be marketable to policyholders—that is, people who want to purchase the coverage and have the financial means to do so.

The third policy analysis approach could be to explore alternative, innovative risk-financing options and ratemaking approaches with the aim of encouraging greater spatial and temporal (over time) spread of risk without the requirement to borrow from the U.S. Treasury.

Appendix A. NFIP October 1, 2013 Rate Table: Zone AE, Single Family Residential Dwelling, Non-elevated with No Basement or Crawl Space

Table A-I. NFIP October 1, 2013, Annual Rate Change

relative required BFE Dwelling with 1 floor Dwelling with 2 or more floor Dwelling with 1 floor Dwelling with 1 floor For a more floor Dwelling with 1 floor		Aa		Вь		Cc		\mathbf{D}^{d}		Ee		Ff	
+3 \$372 \$340 \$403 \$372 \$487 \$456 \$550 \$519 \$528 \$497 \$591 +2 \$447 \$384 \$479 \$416 \$563 \$500 \$626 \$563 \$604 \$541 \$667 +1 \$678 \$546 \$709 \$577 \$814 \$672 \$877 \$735 \$866 \$718 \$929 0 \$1,514 \$1,122 \$1,546 \$1,154 \$1,682 \$1,280 \$1,745 \$1,343 \$1,749 \$1,342 \$1,812 -1 \$3,948 \$2,922 \$4,098 \$3,019 \$5,116 \$3,775 \$5,415 \$3,969 \$5,624 \$4,152 \$5,923 -2 \$4,477 \$3,009 \$4,642 \$3,116 \$5,629 \$3,925 \$5,960 \$4,140 \$6,112 \$4,319 \$6,443 -3 \$6,458 \$4,468 \$6,636 \$4,584 \$7,707 \$5,445 \$8,064 \$5,676 \$8,232 \$5,865 \$8,589	relative to required	Dwelling with I	Dwelling with 2 or more	Dwelling with I	Dwelling with 2 or more	Dwelling with I	Dwelling with 2 or more	Dwelling with I	Dwelling with 2 or more	Dwelling with I	Dwelling with 2 or more	Dwelling with I	For a Dwelling with 2 or more floors
+2 \$4447 \$384 \$479 \$416 \$563 \$500 \$626 \$563 \$604 \$541 \$667 +1 \$678 \$546 \$709 \$577 \$814 \$672 \$877 \$735 \$866 \$718 \$929 0 \$1,514 \$1,122 \$1,546 \$1,154 \$1,682 \$1,280 \$1,745 \$1,343 \$1,749 \$1,342 \$1,812 -1 \$3,948 \$2,922 \$4,098 \$3,019 \$5,116 \$3,775 \$5,415 \$3,969 \$5,624 \$4,152 \$5,923 -2 \$4,477 \$3,009 \$4,642 \$3,116 \$5,629 \$3,925 \$5,960 \$4,140 \$6,112 \$4,319 \$6,443 -3 \$6,458 \$4,468 \$6,636 \$4,584 \$7,707 \$5,445 \$8,064 \$5,676 \$8,232 \$5,865 \$8,589 -4 \$8,402 \$5,908 \$8,596 \$6,034 \$9,762 \$6,948 \$10,150 \$7,200 \$10,334 \$7,394 \$10,723 -5 \$10,580 \$8,203 \$10,787 \$8,337	+4	\$334	\$334	\$365	\$365	\$449	\$449	\$512	\$512	\$490	\$490	\$553	\$553
+1 \$678 \$546 \$709 \$577 \$814 \$672 \$877 \$735 \$866 \$718 \$929 \$0 \$1,514 \$1,122 \$1,546 \$1,154 \$1,682 \$1,280 \$1,745 \$1,343 \$1,749 \$1,342 \$1,812 \$1 \$3,948 \$2,922 \$4,098 \$3,019 \$5,116 \$3,775 \$5,415 \$3,969 \$5,624 \$4,152 \$5,923 \$1,220 \$4,477 \$3,009 \$4,642 \$3,116 \$5,629 \$3,925 \$5,960 \$4,140 \$6,112 \$4,319 \$6,443 \$1,339 \$1,464 \$1,539 \$1,546 \$1,546 \$1,546 \$1,547 \$1,546 \$1,547 \$1,546 \$1,547 \$1,547 \$1,546 \$1,547 \$1,546 \$1,547 \$1,547 \$1,546 \$1,547 \$	+3	\$372	\$340	\$403	\$372	\$487	\$456	\$550	\$519	\$528	\$497	\$591	\$560
0 \$1,514 \$1,122 \$1,546 \$1,154 \$1,682 \$1,280 \$1,745 \$1,343 \$1,749 \$1,342 \$1,812 -1 \$3,948 \$2,922 \$4,098 \$3,019 \$5,116 \$3,775 \$5,415 \$3,969 \$5,624 \$4,152 \$5,923 -2 \$4,477 \$3,009 \$4,642 \$3,116 \$5,629 \$3,925 \$5,960 \$4,140 \$6,112 \$4,319 \$6,443 -3 \$6,458 \$4,468 \$6,636 \$4,584 \$7,707 \$5,445 \$8,064 \$5,676 \$8,232 \$5,865 \$8,589 -4 \$8,402 \$5,908 \$8,596 \$6,034 \$9,762 \$6,948 \$10,150 \$7,200 \$10,334 \$7,394 \$10,723 -5 \$10,580 \$8,203 \$10,787 \$8,337 \$12,047 \$9,313 \$12,462 \$9,581 \$12,667 \$9,791 \$13,081 -6 \$11,864 \$9,221 \$12,087 \$9,365 \$13,861 \$10,394 \$14,308 \$10,683 \$14,738 \$10,898 \$15,184 -7 \$12,988 \$10,114 \$13,225 \$10,266 \$15,577 \$11,347 \$16,049 \$11,652 \$16,742 \$11,878 \$17,215 -8 \$13,990 \$11,025 \$14,300 \$11,232 \$17,282 \$12,671 \$17,901 \$13,086 \$18,762 \$13,380 \$19,382 -9 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 -10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	+2	\$447	\$384	\$479	\$416	\$563	\$500	\$626	\$563	\$604	\$541	\$667	\$604
-1 \$3,948 \$2,922 \$4,098 \$3,019 \$5,116 \$3,775 \$5,415 \$3,969 \$5,624 \$4,152 \$5,923 -2 \$4,477 \$3,009 \$4,642 \$3,116 \$5,629 \$3,925 \$5,960 \$4,140 \$6,112 \$4,319 \$6,443 -3 \$6,458 \$4,468 \$6,636 \$4,584 \$7,707 \$5,445 \$8,064 \$5,676 \$8,232 \$5,865 \$8,589 -4 \$8,402 \$5,908 \$8,596 \$6,034 \$9,762 \$6,948 \$10,150 \$7,200 \$10,334 \$7,394 \$10,723 -5 \$10,580 \$8,203 \$10,787 \$8,337 \$12,047 \$9,313 \$12,462 \$9,581 \$12,667 \$9,791 \$13,081 -6 \$11,864 \$9,221 \$12,087 \$9,365 \$13,861 \$10,394 \$14,308 \$10,683 \$14,738 \$10,898 \$15,184 -7 \$12,988 \$10,114 \$13,225 \$10,266 \$15,577 \$11,347 \$16,049 \$11,652 \$16,742 \$11,878 \$17,215 -8 \$13,990 \$11,025 \$14,300 \$11,232 \$17,282 \$12,671 \$17,901 \$13,086 \$18,762 \$13,380 \$19,382 -9 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 -10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	+1	\$678	\$546	\$709	\$577	\$814	\$672	\$877	\$735	\$866	\$718	\$929	\$781
-2 \$4,477 \$3,009 \$4,642 \$3,116 \$5,629 \$3,925 \$5,960 \$4,140 \$6,112 \$4,319 \$6,443 -3 \$6,458 \$4,468 \$6,636 \$4,584 \$7,707 \$5,445 \$8,064 \$5,676 \$8,232 \$5,865 \$8,589 -4 \$8,402 \$5,908 \$8,596 \$6,034 \$9,762 \$6,948 \$10,150 \$7,200 \$10,334 \$7,394 \$10,723 -5 \$10,580 \$8,203 \$10,787 \$8,337 \$12,047 \$9,313 \$12,462 \$9,581 \$12,667 \$9,791 \$13,081 -6 \$11,864 \$9,221 \$12,087 \$9,365 \$13,861 \$10,394 \$14,308 \$10,683 \$14,738 \$10,898 \$15,184 -7 \$12,988 \$10,114 \$13,225 \$10,266 \$15,577 \$11,347 \$16,049 \$11,652 \$16,742 \$11,878 \$17,215 -8 \$13,990 \$11,025 \$14,300 \$11,232 \$17,282 \$12,671 \$17,901 \$13,086 \$18,762 \$13,380 \$19,382 -9 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 -10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	0	\$1,514	\$1,122	\$1,546	\$1,154	\$1,682	\$1,280	\$1,745	\$1,343	\$1,749	\$1,342	\$1,812	\$1,405
-3 \$6,458 \$4,468 \$6,636 \$4,584 \$7,707 \$5,445 \$8,064 \$5,676 \$8,232 \$5,865 \$8,589 -4 \$8,402 \$5,908 \$8,596 \$6,034 \$9,762 \$6,948 \$10,150 \$7,200 \$10,334 \$7,394 \$10,723 -5 \$10,580 \$8,203 \$10,787 \$8,337 \$12,047 \$9,313 \$12,462 \$9,581 \$12,667 \$9,791 \$13,081 -6 \$11,864 \$9,221 \$12,087 \$9,365 \$13,861 \$10,394 \$14,308 \$10,683 \$14,738 \$10,898 \$15,184 -7 \$12,988 \$10,114 \$13,225 \$10,266 \$15,577 \$11,347 \$16,049 \$11,652 \$16,742 \$11,878 \$17,215 -8 \$13,990 \$11,025 \$14,300 \$11,232 \$17,282 \$12,671 \$17,901 \$13,086 \$18,762 \$13,380 \$19,382 -9 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 -10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	-1	\$3,948	\$2,922	\$4,098	\$3,019	\$5,116	\$3,775	\$5,415	\$3,969	\$5,624	\$4,152	\$5,923	\$4,346
-4 \$8,402 \$5,908 \$8,596 \$6,034 \$9,762 \$6,948 \$10,150 \$7,200 \$10,334 \$7,394 \$10,723 -5 \$10,580 \$8,203 \$10,787 \$8,337 \$12,047 \$9,313 \$12,462 \$9,581 \$12,667 \$9,791 \$13,081 -6 \$11,864 \$9,221 \$12,087 \$9,365 \$13,861 \$10,394 \$14,308 \$10,683 \$14,738 \$10,898 \$15,184 -7 \$12,988 \$10,114 \$13,225 \$10,266 \$15,577 \$11,347 \$16,049 \$11,652 \$16,742 \$11,878 \$17,215 -8 \$13,990 \$11,025 \$14,300 \$11,232 \$17,282 \$12,671 \$17,901 \$13,086 \$18,762 \$13,380 \$19,382 -9 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 -10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	-2	\$4,477	\$3,009	\$4,642	\$3,116	\$5,629	\$3,925	\$5,960	\$4,140	\$6,112	\$4,319	\$6,443	\$4,534
-5 \$10,580 \$8,203 \$10,787 \$8,337 \$12,047 \$9,313 \$12,462 \$9,581 \$12,667 \$9,791 \$13,081 \$10,660 \$11,864 \$9,221 \$12,087 \$9,365 \$13,861 \$10,394 \$14,308 \$10,683 \$14,738 \$10,898 \$15,184 \$10,700 \$12,988 \$10,114 \$13,225 \$10,266 \$15,577 \$11,347 \$16,049 \$11,652 \$16,742 \$11,878 \$17,215 \$18,080 \$11,025 \$14,300 \$11,232 \$17,282 \$12,671 \$17,901 \$13,086 \$18,762 \$13,380 \$19,382 \$10,000 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 \$10,000 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	-3	\$6,458	\$4,468	\$6,636	\$4,584	\$7,707	\$5,445	\$8,064	\$5,676	\$8,232	\$5,865	\$8,589	\$6,096
-6 \$11,864 \$9,221 \$12,087 \$9,365 \$13,861 \$10,394 \$14,308 \$10,683 \$14,738 \$10,898 \$15,184 -7 \$12,988 \$10,114 \$13,225 \$10,266 \$15,577 \$11,347 \$16,049 \$11,652 \$16,742 \$11,878 \$17,215 -8 \$13,990 \$11,025 \$14,300 \$11,232 \$17,282 \$12,671 \$17,901 \$13,086 \$18,762 \$13,380 \$19,382 -9 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 -10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	-4	\$8,402	\$5,908	\$8,596	\$6,034	\$9,762	\$6,948	\$10,150	\$7,200	\$10,334	\$7,394	\$10,723	\$7,646
-7 \$12,988 \$10,114 \$13,225 \$10,266 \$15,577 \$11,347 \$16,049 \$11,652 \$16,742 \$11,878 \$17,215 -8 \$13,990 \$11,025 \$14,300 \$11,232 \$17,282 \$12,671 \$17,901 \$13,086 \$18,762 \$13,380 \$19,382 -9 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 -10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	-5	\$10,580	\$8,203	\$10,787	\$8,337	\$12,047	\$9,313	\$12,462	\$9,581	\$12,667	\$9,791	\$13,081	\$10,059
-8 \$13,990 \$11,025 \$14,300 \$11,232 \$17,282 \$12,671 \$17,901 \$13,086 \$18,762 \$13,380 \$19,382 \$1.99 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 \$10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	-6	\$11,864	\$9,221	\$12,087	\$9,365	\$13,861	\$10,394	\$14,308	\$10,683	\$14,738	\$10,898	\$15,184	\$11,187
-9 \$14,863 \$11,851 \$15,251 \$12,116 \$18,884 \$13,943 \$19,661 \$14,474 \$20,690 \$14,846 \$21,467 \$10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	-7	\$12,988	\$10,114	\$13,225	\$10,266	\$15,577	\$11,347	\$16,049	\$11,652	\$16,742	\$11,878	\$17,215	\$12,182
-10 \$15,639 \$12,607 \$16,109 \$12,935 \$20,414 \$15,172 \$21,354 \$15,828 \$22,556 \$16,280 \$23,496	-8	\$13,990	\$11,025	\$14,300	\$11,232	\$17,282	\$12,671	\$17,901	\$13,086	\$18,762	\$13,380	\$19,382	\$13,794
	-9	\$14,863	\$11,851	\$15,251	\$12,116	\$18,884	\$13,943	\$19,661	\$14,474	\$20,690	\$14,846	\$21,467	\$15,377
-II \$16.336 \$13.306 \$16.888 \$13.697 \$21.854 \$16.364 \$22.957 \$17.146 \$24.327 \$17.687 \$25.429	-10	\$15,639	\$12,607	\$16,109	\$12,935	\$20,414	\$15,172	\$21,354	\$15,828	\$22,556	\$16,280	\$23,496	\$16,936
+ + + +	-11	\$16,336	\$13,306	\$16,888	\$13,697	\$21,854	\$16,364	\$22,957	\$17,146	\$24,327	\$17,687	\$25,429	\$18,469

	Aa		Вь		Cc		D₫		Ee		Ff	
Elevation relative to required BFE	For a Dwelling with I floor	For a Dwelling with 2 or more floors	For a Dwelling with I floor	For a Dwelling with 2 or more floors	For a Dwelling with I floor	For a Dwelling with 2 or more floors	For a Dwelling with I floor	For a Dwelling with 2 or more floors	For a Dwelling with I floor	For a Dwelling with 2 or more floors	For a Dwelling with I floor	For a Dwelling with 2 or more floors
-12	\$16,973	\$13,948	\$17,603	\$14,402	\$23,221	\$17,499	\$24,481	\$18,407	\$26,019	\$19,037	\$27,279	\$19,946
-13	\$17,575	\$14,551	\$18,279	\$15,068	\$24,505	\$18,596	\$25,912	\$19,631	\$27,608	\$20,350	\$29,015	\$21,384
-14	\$18,143	\$15,125	\$18,913	\$15,700	\$25,685	\$19,637	\$27,223	\$20,787	\$29,061	\$21,595	\$30,599	\$22,745
-15	\$18,717	\$15,673	\$19,541	\$16,300	\$26,796	\$20,626	\$28,445	\$21,881	\$30,414	\$22,779	\$32,062	\$24,033

Source: U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Federal Emergency Management Agency, "NFIP Actuarial Rate revision," October 1, 2013.

- a. \$100,000 Building / \$25,000 Contents coverage w/ \$1,000 deductible.
- b. \$100,000 Building / \$50,000 Contents coverage w/ \$1,000 deductible.
- c. \$200,000 Building / \$50,000 Contents coverage w/ \$1,000 deductible.
- d. \$200,000 Building / \$100,000 Contents coverage w/ \$1,000 deductible.
- e. \$250,000 Building / \$50,000 Contents coverage w/ \$1,000 deductible.
- f. \$250,000 Building / \$100,000 Contents coverage w/ \$1,000 deductible.

Appendix B. Side-by-Side of H.R. 3370 and S. 1926

Table B-1. Side-by-Side Comparison of H.R. 3370 (Leadership Substitute) and S. 1926, as Passed the Senate

	1720, as Passed the S	enate
Key Provisions	H.R. 3370 (Grimm)— Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (Leadership Substitute)	S. 1926 (Menendez)—Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, As Passed Senate
Premium Rate Structure Reform—Repeal of Certain Rate Increases	Premium subsidies on New Policies—not Insured (as of July 6, 2012) or new purchased after July 6, 2012. Would amend 42 U.S.C §4014(g(1) and (2) to repeal the requirement for the Administrator to not permit premium subsidies for new policies—that is, those not insured after July 6, 2012 or new purchases after July 6, 2012. (sec. 103 (a)(1)(A)) Subsidies for Lapsed Policies. Would amend section 1307(g) of the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. §4014(g)) to repeal rate increases for lapses in flood insurance coverage, unless the decision of the policyholder to permit a lapse was a result of the property covered by the policy was no longer being required to retain such coverage. (sec. 3(a)(1)(B)) Requires the Administrator of Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) to promulgate regulations to implement this amendment and refund to insured any premiums collected in excess of the rates required under the amendment. This change would be effective retroactively back to enactment of the Biggert-Waters Act (P.L. 112-141; 126 Stat. 957). (sec. 3(a)(3)-(4))	Would delay implementation of flood insurance rate increases for the following three types of properties: (I) Grandfathered Properties. FEMA is prohibited from implementing section 1308(h) of the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, pertaining to grandfathered properties. (2) Pre-FIRM Properties—Not Insured. FEMA prohibited from implementing removal of premium subsidies from all properties not insured as of July 6, 2012. (3) Pre-FIRM Properties—Lapsed Policies. FEMA prohibited from implementing removal of premium subsidies on any lapsed policy as a result of the property covered by the policy no longer being required to retain such coverage. Section 103(a)(3)(A)-(B) would delay the implementation of flood insurance rate increases until 6 months after the later of: (I) FEMA completes the affordability study authorized by Section 100236 of the Biggert-Waters law, or (2) Administrator of FEMA certifies in writing to Congress that the agency has implemented a flood mapping approach that utilizes sound scientific and engineering methodologies to determine varying levels of flood risk in all areas participating in the NFIP.
	Assumption of Pre-FIRM Subsidized-Rated Policies. Requires FEMA to permit the purchaser of a property that is covered under an existing flood insurance policy to retain that coverage at the chargeable premium rate (subsidized rate) for the remainder of the term of the existing policy until the later of (1) the expiration of the assumed policy, or (2) implementation by FEMA of the full Homeowner Flood Insurance	

Key Provisions	H.R. 3370 (Grimm)— Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (Leadership Substitute)	S. 1926 (Menendez)—Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, As Passed Senate
	Affordability Act of 2014.	
	Grandfathered Policies. Would amend Section 1308 of the NFIA (i.e., with respect to grandfathered policies) to eliminate Section 100207 of Biggert-Waters Act that required the gradual phase-in of full risk-based rates for grandfathered policies. (Sec. 4)	
Optional High-Deductible Policy	The Administrator of FEMA would be authorized to create a flood insurance policy that offers the insured the option of an annual loss-deductible for damage to the covered property in various amounts, up to and including \$10,000.	No similar provision.
	Disclosure requirement. The Administrator must inform applicants of the availability of the high-deductible policy option by providing information on the effect of an annual loss-deductible (i.e., responsible for out-of-pocket losses to the extent of the deductible selected) that appears on the application form for flood insurance coverage or on a separate form, segregated from all unrelated information and other required disclosure. (Sec. 10)	
Annual Rate Increase Requirement	Amends Section 1308(e) of the NFIA (42 U.S.C. 4015(e)) to permit within any single risk classification—except properties for which the chargeable risk premium rate is not less than the applicable estimated risk premium under section 1307(a) (1)—premium rate increases of an amount that results in average of such rate increases for properties within the risk classification during any 12-month period of not less than 5% of the average of the risk premium rates for such properties within the risk classification upon commencement of such 12-month period.	No similar provision.
	Would reduce the annual rate increases of policies under the National Flood Insurance Fund (NFIP) from 20 percent, as required under the Biggert-Waters Act, to 15%. (Sec. 5)	

Key Provisions	H.R. 3370 (Grimm)— Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (Leadership Substitute)	S. 1926 (Menendez)—Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, As Passed Senate
Premium Surcharge	Would amend the NFIA to authorize the Administrator of FEMA to impose a \$25 per year surcharge on primary residence policies and \$250 per year on business and non-primary residences insured under the NFIP. The premium surcharge would continue until chargeable premium rates for flood insurance for each property covered in the program are not less than the applicable estimated risk premium rate under section 1307(a) (1). The premium surcharge funds would be deposited in the Reserve Fund created by the Biggert-Waters Act. (Sec. 6)	No similar provision.
Restoration of Risk Premium Rate Subsidies	See "Repeal of Certain Rate Increases" in first row of side-by-side. Requires the Administrator of FEMA to refund to insured of a previously lapsed (and now reinstated) policy any premiums collected in excess of the rates required under the amendment to be promulgated by FEMA designed to repeal rate increases for lapses in flood insurance coverage. (sec. 3(a)(3)-(4))	Section 103(c), <i>Treatment of Pre-FIRM Properties</i> , would require that, beginning on the date of enactment of this act through the expiration of the 6-month period (i.e., after FEMA proposes the draft affordability framework and FEMA implements a flood mapping approach that results in technically credible flood hazard data) FEMA restore the risk premium rate subsidies for flood insurance estimated under section 1307(a)(2) of the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 (42 U.S. C. 4014(a)(2) for the following three types of properties: (1) Any property not insured by the flood insurance program as of July 6, 2012; (2) Any policy under the flood insurance program that has lapsed in coverage, as a result of the deliberate choice of the holder of such policy; and (3) Any property purchased after July 6, 2012
Draft Affordability Framework and Study Requirement	Requires the Administrator of FEMA to prepare a draft affordability framework that would address, via programmatic and regulatory changes, the issues of affordability of flood insurance under the NFIP, including issues identified in the affordability study required under section 100236 of the Biggert-Waters Act. (sec. 7(a)) In developing the draft affordability framework, FEMA would be required to consider the following: (1) accurate communication of flood risks, (2) targeted assistance to flood insurance policyholders based on	Similar provision. (sec. 103(d)) Similar provision. (sec. 103(d)(2))

Key Provisions	H.R. 3370 (Grimm)— Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (Leadership Substitute)	S. 1926 (Menendez)—Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, As Passed Senate
	their financial ability to continue to participate in the NFIP, (3) individual or community actions to mitigate the risk of flood or lower the cost of flood insurance, (4) the impact of increases in risk premium rates on participation in the NFIP, and (5) the impact of flood insurance rate map updates have on the affordability of flood insurance. (sec. 7(b))	
	No similar provision.	Would also require FEMA to disclose the rate tables and underwriting guidelines pertaining to changes in rates resulting from the amendment made by Section 100207 of the Biggert-Waters not later than 6 months before the date on which any change in risk premium rates are implemented. (sec, 103(h)(1))
	No similar provision.	Would require FEMA to report on the feasibility of releasing and establishing guidelines for releasing property-level policy and claims data for flood insurance coverage not later than 90 days after the date of enactment of this act. The report would include: (1) an analysis and assessment of how releasing property-level policy and claims data for flood insurance coverage will aid policyholders and insurers to understand how the Administration determines actuarial premium rates and assesses flood risks; and (2) recommendations for protection personal information in accordance with the Privacy Act of 1974. (sec. 103(h)(3))
	Requires FEMA to submit the draft affordability framework to Congress not later than 18 months after the date on which the Administrator submits the affordability study required under Section 100236 of the Biggert-Waters Act. (sec. 7(c))	Similar provision. (sec. 103(d)(3)) However, would add some additional features, including the authority for the Administrator of FEMA to enter into an agreement with other federal agencies to complete the study and prepare the draft affordability framework. (sec. 103(e), (h))
Affordability Study Funding	Would increase the amount of funding for the affordability study from \$750,000 to \$2,000,000. (sec. 14(c))	Would amend Section 100236(d) of the Biggert-Waters Act to strike "not more than \$750,000" and insert "such sums as to be necessary" for completion of the affordability study. (sec. 105)
Risk Transfer Through Reinsurance and Capital Markets	Would authorize the Administrator of FEMA to secure private reinsurance and capital market products for flood insurance risks assumed (underwritten) under the NFIP and to do so at rates and on terms determined by the	No similar provision.

Key Provisions	H.R. 3370 (Grimm)— Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (Leadership Substitute)	S. 1926 (Menendez)—Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, As Passed Senate
	Administrator to be reasonable and appropriate and in an amount sufficient to maintain the ability of the program to pay claims. (sec. 8)	
Reimbursement of Policyholders for Successful Map Appeals	Would authorize FEMA to use funds from the National Flood Insurance Fund (NFIF) to reimburse policyholders who successfully appeal a map determination. (sec. 16)	Would authorize FEMA to use such amounts from the NFIF as may be necessary to reimburse homeowners for successful map appeals. (sec. 106)
Flood Protection Systems	Would clarify that the Administrator of FEMA shall find that adequate progress on the construction or reconstruction of a flood protection system, based on the present value of the completed flood protection system has been made only if (1) 100 percent of the cost of the system has been authorized, (2) at least 60 percent of the cost of the system has been appropriated, (3) at least 50 percent of the cost of the system has been expended, and (4) the system is at least 50 percent completed.	Similar provision. (sec. 107)
	FEMA is also required to consider all sources of funding in determining whether a community has made adequate progress on the construction, reconstruction, or improvement of a flood protection system. (sec. 17a)	
	Would clarify that the Administrator of FEMA has the authority to restore the accreditation of flood protection systems as providing 100-year frequency flood protection without regard to the level of federal funding of or participation in the construction, reconstruction, or improvement of the flood protection system. (sec. 17b)	
Flood Insurance Rate Map Certification	Would require the Administrator of FEMA to implement a flood mapping approach that when applied, results in technically credible flood hazard data in all areas where FIRMS are prepared an or updated and shall certify in writing to Congress when such an approach has been implemented. (sec. 15)	Similar provision, but as a condition to allow the expiration of the rate freeze (sec. 103(a)(3)(B))
Mapping of Non-Structural Flood Mitigation Features	Would amend Section 100216— National Flood Mapping Program—of the Biggert-Waters Act to add "areas	No similar provision.

Key Provisions	H.R. 3370 (Grimm)— Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (Leadership Substitute)	S. 1926 (Menendez)—Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, As Passed Senate
	that are protected by non-structural flood mitigation features" to the list of directives to consider with updating flood maps. (sec. 25)	
Exemption from Fees for Map Change Requests	Similar provision. (sec. 20)	Would exempt habitat restoration projects funded with federal or state funds from having to pay a fee for flood insurance rate map change. (sec. 115)
Exclusion of Detached Structures From Mandatory Purchase Requirement	Would clarify that flood insurance would not be required for any structure that is a part of residential property but is both detached from the primary residential structure and does not serve as a residence. (sec. 11)	No similar provision.
Treatment of Flood- proofed Residential Basements	Authorized FEMA to give credit to homeowners who have flood-proof basements when determining flood insurance rates. Basements that have not been flood-proofed would remain subject to the effects of Biggert-Waters. (sec. 19)	Similar provision. (sec. 108)
Flood Mitigation Methods for Buildings	Would require FEMA to issue guidelines for property owners that provide alternative methods of mitigation, other than building elevation, to reduce flood risk to residential buildings that cannot be elevated due to their structural characteristics and inform property about how the implementation of mitigation methods may affect risk premium rates for flood insurance coverage under the NFIP. (sec. 24)	Similar provision. The Administrator of FEMA must take into account the implementation of any mitigation method designed to reduce flood risk to urban residential buildings when calculating premium rates. (sec. 116)
Flood Insurance Advocate	Would establish a Flood Insurance Advocate to advocate for the fair treatment of policyholders under the NFIP and property owners in the mapping of flood hazards, the identification of risks from flood, and the implementation of measures to minimize the risk of flood. Specifically, would aid policyholders in obtaining and verifying accurate and reliable flood insurance rate information when purchasing or renewing a flood insurance policy. Does not authorize funds to carry out the duties and responsibilities of the Flood Insurance Advocate. (sec. 22)	Would require the Administrator of FEMA to designate a Flood Insurance Advocate to advocate on behalf of policyholders under the NFIP and in the mapping of flood hazards, risk from flood, and implementation of measures to minimize the risk of flood. Authorizes such sums as necessary to carry out the duties and responsibilities of the Flood Insurance Advocate. (sec. 109)

Key Provisions	H.R. 3370 (Grimm)— Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (Leadership Substitute)	S. 1926 (Menendez)—Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, As Passed Senate
Authority of States to Regulate Private Flood Insurance	For purposes of granting authority to states to regulate private flood insurance companies, would clarify the definition of private flood insurance as an insurance policy sold by (I) a licensed, admitted, or otherwise approved to engage in the business of insurance in the state or jurisdiction in which the insured building is located, by the insurance regulator of that state or jurisdiction, or (2) non-admitted insurer to provide insurance in the state or jurisdiction where the property to be insured is located, in accordance with sections 521 through 527 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (I5 U.S.C. 8201-6), and is issued by an insurance company that is not otherwise disapproved as a surplus lines insurer by the insurance regulator of the state of jurisdiction where the property to be insured is located. (sec. 26)	No similar provision.
Voluntary Community- Based Flood Insurance Option Study	Similar provision. (sec. 21)	Would require FEMA, in consultation with the Comptroller General of the United States, to (1) conduct a study to assess options, methods, and strategies for making available voluntary community-based flood insurance policies to communities, subdivisions of communities, and areas of residential risk, and (2) report to Congress no later than 18 months after enactment. (sec. 114)
Escrow Requirement for Flood Insurance Payments	Similar provision. However, note that H.R. 3370 would provide the option to escrow flood insurance payments by directing federal entity of lending regulation, after consultation and coordination with the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council, regulation that would direct that each regulated lending institution or servicer of an outstanding loan to offer and make available to a borrower the option to have the borrower's payment of premiums and fees for flood insurance, including the escrow of such payments, be treated in the same manner provided under section 102(d)(1) (A) of the Flood Disaster	Would amend section 100209(a) of the Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2012 (P.L. 112-141; 126 Stat. 920) to exclude from the requirement to escrow flood insurance payments any loan in a junior or subordinate position to a senior lien secured by the same residential improved real estate or mobile home and originated, refinanced, increased, extended, or renewed on or after January 1, 2016 for which flood insurance is being provided at the time of the origination of the loan. (sec. 110)

Key Provisions	H.R. 3370 (Grimm)— Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (Leadership Substitute)	S. 1926 (Menendez)—Homeowners Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014, As Passed Senate
	Protection Act of 1973, as amended. (sec. 23)	
Monthly Installment Payments for Premiums	Would authorize FEMA to accept installment payments annually, monthly, or in other installments that are more frequent than annually. (sec. 9)	Similar provision. (sec. 111)
Home Improvement Fairness	Would change the definition of substantial improvement as exceeding 50 percent of the fair market value of property, up from 30 percent. (sec. 13)	Similar provision. (sec. 113)
Accounting for Flood Mitigation Activities in Estimates of Premium Rates	Similar provision. (sec. 12)	Would authorize FEMA to consider in the rate-setting process flood mitigation activities undertaken on the property by a property owner or lessee. (sec. 112)
National Association of Registered Agents and Broker	No similar provision.	Would create the National Association of Registered Agents and Brokers. (sec. 202)

Source: Congressional Research Service.

Author Contact Information

(name redacted)
Specialist in Financial Economics and Risk
Assessment
[redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.